1982

# Diane Walch Reick v. Donald Thomas Reick : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order to Show Cause in a domestic action seeking, inter alia, an increase in child support payments from the defendant.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

After a hearing before the court, sitting without a jury, plaintiff was granted an increase in child support payments from \$150.00 to \$225.00 per month. It is from this portion of the Order which defendant appeals.

### ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The court below erred: by rewarding plaintiff equitable relief, despite her unclean hands by abusing its discretion in deciding that a material change in circumstance had taken place which warranted an increase in child support, and by arbitrarily using a pre-determined schedule to determine the new amount of child support, and, thereby, denying defendant his right to due process of law.

### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks an Order reversing the judgment of the court below and/or granting judgment in his favor, which denies an increase in child support payments, or, that failing, a new hearing.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

History of the Case. Plaintiff/Respondent and Defendant/Appellant were divorced in the court below on May 26, 1972. Defendant was ordered to pay child support payments in the amount of \$150.00 per month, and alimony in the amount of \$50.00 per month. (Decree of Divorce) Appellant made his payments irregularly, at first, but had resolved the problem and paid regularly during recent years. (F&C-1,

T6, 91, 121.)

Respondent was remarried on August 29, 1977. (T-4, 5, 25) Thereafter, respondent deliberately concealed and hid the fact of her remarriage, and continued to accept alimony payments from appellant. (T-3, 5, 25, 38, 62, 121, F&C-1) During June, 1980, approximately thirty-five (35) months later, appellant discovered the remarriage. (T-3, 87) The parties exchanged letters with respect to the remarriage and respondent's continued acceptance of alimony payments during the said thirty-five month period. (Exhibit 14D, 16P) The parties were unable to agree upon a resolution to the problem, so appellant ceased making alimony payments and began deducting their equivalent from child support, believing himself to have "prepaid child support". (T-6, 107)

Commencement. On or about November 5, 1980, respondent signed and swore to an Affidavit in support of an Order to Show Cause requesting modification of the Decree of Divorce, to-wit: an increase in child support to \$250.00 per month. On page 2 of the said Affidavit, paragraph 3, respondent acknowledged that she may have been in default under the Decree of Divorce, but reasoned that she had "\* \* \* assumed the additional \$50.00 was to cover the child's additional needs because of her handicap and because Plaintiff was paying the health and accident insurance of \$22.00 per month,\* \* \*" (See plaintiff's Order to Show Cause in re: Modification, p.2.) It should be noted that the trial court later found no handicap and no responsibility in appellant for the said insurance premiums. (T-121, F&C page 2)

Discovery. The parties then responded to written Interrogatories which had been extended to each by the other.

a.) In her answers to appellant's Interrogatories, respondent itemized her necessary monthly expenses, which totalled \$970.00, with the notation that "any amount remaining from balance is used for clothing and entertainment". (Answer to Defendant's Interrogatories to Plaintiff, Page 3, No. 10)

b.) Appellant itemized his necessary expenses at a total of \$1,436.00 per month (Page 8, No. 17) and his net monthly income at \$1,399.92 (Page 7-8, No. 15, Answers to Plaintiff's Interrogatories to Defendant).

Evidentiary Hearing. The matter came on for hearing before the Honorable John F. Wahlquist, District Court Judge, on October 22, 1981.

With respect to a change in circumstance, the evidence adduced before the Court was based upon inflation. (T-16-17, 121-122)

a.) Appellant's income had increased during the ten years from approximately \$8,000.00 per year to approximately \$25,000.00 per year. (T-72) Appellant testified that his net monthly income at the time of the hearing was \$1,540.00 per month, after taxes. (T-92) The uncontradicted evidence with respect to his monthly necessary living expenses was that they total the \$1,436.00 per month sworn to in the Answers to Interrogatories, plus additional expenses caused by inflation, leaving approximately \$30.00 in excess for use for clothing, vacation, gifts, entertainment or similar frills, each month. (T-95-97, 106)

b.) Respondent's income had increased more dramatically during the same period. She had risen from a U. S. Civil Service rating of

GS-4 to a rating of GS11, accounting for an annual income at the time of the hearing of \$22,500.00, which gave her a net income at the time of the hearing of approximately \$1,223.00 per month. (T-4, 62, 122) At the hearing, Respondent presented a new exhibit with respect to her expenses (Exhibit 1P), which indicated an additional \$410.00 in monthly living expenses. On cross examination, respondent testified that the difference between the new schedule and her Interrogatory response is the difference "between necessary and actual" expenses, based upon her use of her money. (T-55-6, testimony with respect to expenses T-8, 54-62)

As an additional change of circumstance, respondent claimed that the parties' child had a learning disability. The parties testified with respect to the matter (T-18, 42-47, 100), but the Court found the child to be normal. (T-122-123)

Arguments Presented by the Parties. Appellant's counsel argued to the trial court that respondent was not entitled to equitable relief for the reason that she does not have clean hands. (TA-1) With respect to the child support issues, appellant argued that there was no change in the circumstance (TA-8), there was no need for an increase indicated (TA-6, 15), and that even if there were appellant did not have the ability to pay an increased amount (TA-6, 7, 15-16).

Respondent argued to the court that the Uniform Child Support Schedule of the Second Judicial District, adopted by policy statement and rule (a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit "A"), should be utilized to determine the amount to be paid, based solely upon the income of appellant as applied to the schedule. (TA-9, 17, 19) The said

schedule purports to be one promulgated pursuant to 45 CFR 302.53, with respect to child support enforcement by the Utah Department of Social Services, Office of Recovery Services. The expressed intention for the use of the schedule relates to ex parte temporary support orders, no hearings having yet been held. (See Exhibit) Respondent's counsel, in urging its use, submitted that the schedule had been prepared by the trial judge, and that the judge had followed it and ought to follow it in the instant case. (TA-19)

In response, appellant argued that the support issue should be based upon the mother's need and the father's ability to pay, and not upon the schedule. (TA-14)

Holding of Court Below. With respect to the matter being appealed from, the court below found that inflation was the chief change in circumstance with respect to the position of appellant, and that respondent has "done much better in life" and, further, that "her income should improve very rapidly for the next five years if she \* \* \* is able to hold her job at all \* \* \*". (T-122) The court found that respondent had deliberately concealed her remarriage and that appellant would be entitled to an offset for the amount overpaid. (T-121) Except to note his opinion that the parties "need to update the child support order after nine years", the court below gave no explanation, but raised the child support figure to \$225.00 per month. (T-122, 123)

Appeal. Appellant has appealed the decision of the court, urging that the decision of the court below could only have been made arbitrarily on the basis of the pre-determined schedule. The abuse of discretion resulted in an inequitable and unfair order, in that it

ignored the facts adduced which indicated that no material change in circumstance had taken place warranting an increase, and, further, that appellant was unable to pay an increased amount, despite the express assumptions made in the schedule. Further, appellant urges that the said arbitrary use of the schedule violated his right to due process of law. Finally, appellant urges that the plaintiff came to the court below in equity, without clean hands, and was not entitled to equitable relief.

T = Reporter's Transcript of Testimony and Ruling

TA = Reporter's Transcript of Arguments

F&C indicates Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

UNIFORM CHILD SUPPORT SCHEDULE  
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

| R A N G E                          |             | AMOUNT TO BE PAID - GIVEN THE TOTAL NO. OF CHILDREN |     |     |     |     |
|------------------------------------|-------------|---|-----|-----|-----|-----|
|                                    |             | 1   | 2   | 3   | 4   | 5   |
| NON-CUSTODIAL PARENT GROSS MONTHLY | 400 - 473   | 47  | 70  | 87  | 116 | 145 |
|                                    | 474 - 562   | 56  | 84  | 102 | 116 | 145 |
|                                    | 563 - 651   | 67  | 100 | 120 | 132 | 145 |
|                                    | 652 - 741   | 76  | 114 | 138 | 156 | 165 |
|                                    | 742 - 830   | 85  | 128 | 153 | 172 | 180 |
|                                    | 831 - 919   | 96  | 142 | 171 | 192 | 205 |
|                                    | 920 - 1008  | 105   | 160 | 189 | 212 | 230 |
|                                    | 1009 - 1098 | 115   | 174 | 207 | 228 | 245 |
|                                    | 1099 - 1187 | 125   | 188 | 225 | 248 | 270 |
|                                    | 1188 - 1276 | 135   | 202 | 243 | 272 | 285 |
|                                    | 1277 - 1366 | 144   | 218 | 261 | 292 | 310 |
|                                    | 1367 - 1455 | 154   | 232 | 276 | 308 | 330 |
|                                    | 1456 - 1544 | 164   | 246 | 294 | 328 | 350 |
|                                    | 1545 - 1633 | 173   | 260 | 312 | 348 | 375 |
|                                    | 1634 - 1723 | 184   | 276 | 330 | 364 | 390 |
|                                    | 1724 - 1812 | 193   | 290 | 348 | 388 | 415 |
|                                    | 1813 - 1901 | 202   | 304 | 366 | 408 | 435 |
|                                    | 1902 - 1991 | 213   | 318 | 387 | 424 | 455 |
|                                    | 1992 - 2080 | 222   | 334 | 399 | 444 | 475 |
|                                    | 2081 - 2169 | 232   | 348 | 417 | 464 | 495 |
| 2170 - 2258                        | 242         | 362   | 435 | 484 | 520 |     |
| 2259 - 2348                        | 252         | 376   | 453 | 504 | 540 |     |
| 2349 - 2437                        | 261         | 394   | 471 | 524 | 560 |     |
| 2438 - 2526                        | 271         | 408   | 489 | 544 | 580 |     |
| 2527 - 2616                        | 281         | 422   | 504 | 560 | 605 |     |
| 2617 - 2705                        | 290         | 436   | 522 | 580 | 620 |     |
| 2706 - 2794                        | 301         | 452   | 540 | 600 | 645 |     |
| 2795 - 2883                        | 310         | 466   | 558 | 624 | 665 |     |
| 2884 - 2973                        | 319         | 480   | 576 | 640 | 685 |     |
| 2974 - 3062                        | 330         | 494   | 594 | 660 | 710 |     |

This table was designed according to criteria set forth in 45 CFR 302.53, and was computed using Section B of Form 849-P (revised Feb. 1981,) Utah Department of Social Services, Office of Recovery Services, Basic Child Support Enforcement.

The amounts listed are intended to be used as the total temporary support order, given the collective number of children cared for by the custodial parent and the non-custodial parent's gross monthly income (i.e., if the non-custodial parent's gross monthly income is between \$1009 and \$1098, and there are three children, the suggested "target" for a temporary support order would be \$207.00.

The schedule is based upon the non-custodial parent's monthly gross income. It automatically assumes deductions (federal, state, FICA, retirement) and necessities such as housing utilities, and transportation. It also assumes the earning potential of the absent parent the ability to borrow, needs of the child and the amount of assistance which would be paid to the child under the full standard of need of the State's IV-A plan. The formula is also designed to insure, as a minimum, that the child for whom support is sought benefits from the income and resources of the absent parent on an equitable basis in comparison with any other child.

EXPLANATION OF TABLE

This schedule is based upon the non-custodial parent's monthly gross income. It automatically assumes deductions and necessities, normal taxes, transportation, employment and living expenses, etc.

It was designed according to criteria set forth in 45 CFR 302.53, and was computed using Section B, of Form 849-P (revised Feb. 1981), Utah Department of Social Services, Office of Recovery Services, Basic Child Support Enforcement

The amounts listed are intended to be used as the total ex parte temporary support order, given the collective number of children of the non-custodial parent who are cared for by the custodial parent, (i.e., if the non-custodial parent's gross monthly income is between \$1025 and \$1075, and there are a total of three children in the care of the custodial parent, the non-custodial parent could expect a temporary support order in the amount of \$207.00.

NOTE: The figures in this table are intended to give the parties a "target," and to assist the parties in arriving at what has been determined as reasonable and conscionable based upon mean family income, standard deductions, welfare grants, etc. The non-custodial party will be granted a hearing for a change from this table, if such a hearing is requested. The use of the table is not intended to foreclose the Court from hearing issues involving who should be the custodial parent. Use of the table will be interpreted to be a waiver of a right to a temporary hearing, unless requested by the adverse parent.

IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT

-----  
POLICY STATEMENT  
-----

Many parties at the beginning of a divorce, petition the Court to determine a temporary child support figure, and frequently this is the only real issue between them. Because there is no general policy statement, the parties are handicapped in negotiating temporary agreements. Occasionally, the costs in attorney fees, lost wages, and other expenses of the hearing, exceed the real difference between the parties on their proposed temporary child support figures.

The Court therefore has searched for a general standard which might have some guidance to the parties in negotiations. Not infrequently, the welfare department is involved in the situation. All states, including Utah, that have adopted the Uniform Child Support Act, have committees which attempt to establish a conscionable standard of what the non-custodial parent will pay to a custodial parent or a welfare agency. The Utah committee has consulted with the other states, and the current Utah schedule is attached. The welfare agencies use a formula that involves some calculations, but the final result is based on gross income, and is reflected in the attached table. The table assumes the non-custodial parent has normal tastes, and it makes normal allowances for independent living and transportation, taxes, etc. In an effort to avoid unnecessary litigation expenses, a custodial parent will be permitted to secure an ex-parte order in accordance with the table. It would, of course, be necessary that the custodial parent's affidavit contain evidence of correct information regarding income of the non-custodial parent.

While the welfare hearing officers are authorized to vary 25% in either direction after hearing, no such variances are issued without hearings.

It is the Court's hope that the adoption of such a schedule will avoid some litigation and expense. In adopting the Rule, the Court does not intend to limit either party's right to a hearing, should either side request it.

RULE

A custodial party may secure an ex-parte child support order in accordance with the attached table. The request must contain an affidavit as to the non-custodial parent's gross income, based on reasonably certain information. Ex-parte orders without the affidavit will not be granted. Ex-parte orders for child support amounts above the figures in the table will not be granted, nor will figures below the table be accepted, without hearing.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1. RESPONDENT, HAVING ENGAGED IN FRAUD AND DECEIT AND THEREBY HAVING FAILED TO DO EQUITY, WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A REWARD OF EQUITABLE RELIEF.

It is well settled that divorce actions and supplemental actions therein for modifications of support orders are equitable in nature. U.C.A., 1953, 30-3-5. Further, Article VIII, Section 9 of the Utah Constitution permits the Supreme Court to review questions of both law and fact in equity cases, and, thus to make its own findings and substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court when it is fair and equitable in the interest of justice. Wright vs. Wright 586 P.2d 443, 445 (Utah 1978).

It is fundamental that it is incumbent upon one seeking equity to do equity with respect to the subject matter involved, before relief will be awarded. 27 Am.Jur. 2d Equity § 131, Page 660; Coleman Company, Inc. vs. Southwest Field Irrigation Company 584 P.2d 883, 884 (Utah 1978). In Coleman supra., the plaintiff sought equitable relief in the form of a prescriptive easement, after having changed the location of a ditch, which was involved in the need for the said easement, for its own benefit and convenience. In so doing, it had effectively increased the burden upon the defendant, from whom the relief was sought, so the court refused to grant equitable relief.

In Jacobson vs. Jacobson, 557 P.2d 156 (Utah 1976), a case involving the suit of a son against a father to reform a deed, in equity, where the plaintiff had previously deceived a court and creditors

with respect to his claimed interest in the property, the Utah court noted:

\* \* \* The precept that equity does not reward one who has engaged in fraud or deceit in the business under consideration, but reserves its rewards for those who are themselves acting in fairness and good conscience, or as is sometimes said, to those who have come into court with clean hands.

In the case at hand, it was made clear and the trial court found that the respondent had concealed her remarriage from the appellant and accepted alimony payments from him for a period of thirty-five (35) months. Further, it cannot be doubted that she knew that she was not entitled to receive the said alimony, which conclusion can be drawn by inference from her sworn statement that she thought of the money as "additional" money. (P.2 of her Affidavit in support of her Order to Show Cause.)

Thus, respondent had failed to do equity by knowingly accepting alimony payments which were no longer due, and, through her deceit and fraudulent behavior, increased the burden upon the appellant for support payments. After thirty-five months of receiving an extra \$50.00 per month, the respondent was caught. Faced with receiving only \$100.00 per month, she sought to be rewarded by the court in equity in a fashion which would make up for the money no longer being received. As a result of her previous cheating on support payments, the court below should have refused, as it did in Tuttle vs. Henderson, 628 P.2d 1275 (Utah 1981), to consider equitable relief. In the Tuttle case, Id., an action by a mother seeking a change in custody after "snatching" the child from the father, the court stated, at 1277, that

\* \* \* In any equitable proceeding, the fundamental

rule is that he who seeks equity must do equity.  
Plaintiff has not done equity in the instant case.

And, therefore, respondent herein has not done equity. The court below erred in granting an increase in child support.

POINT 2. UNDER THE FACTS PRESENTED, THE COURT BELOW SUBSTANTIALLY ERRED AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN FINDING A CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCE SUFFICIENT TO INCREASE CHILD SUPPORT AND, FURTHER, IN UTILIZING A PREDETERMINED SCHEDULE AND CONSEQUENTLY ORDERING AN INCREASE IN CHILD SUPPORT TO \$225.00 PER MONTH.

As was noted at the beginning of Point 1, this is an equitable action, and the court is authorized to make its own findings and substitute its own judgment for that of the court below in the interest of justice. See also Dahlberg vs. Dahlberg, 77 U. 157, 292 P. 214, 217 (Utah 1930).

The Utah court has consistently noted that it may disturb the result of such an action where the result is unjust or inequitable, where the evidence preponderates against the findings, or where there was a misapplication of the law or the facts resulting in such an error or abuse of discretion. Dahlberg vs. Dahlberg, Id., at 216, Westenskow vs. Westenskow 562 P.2d 1256, 1258 (Utah 1977), McBroom vs. McBroom 14 Utah 2d 393, 384 P.2d 961, (1963). In McBroom, Id., at 962 it was noted that the court "\* \* \* will not disturb a trial court's judgment in the division of property or awards of alimony and child support unless it appears to be unjust, inequitable, or contrary to the evidence and therefore an abuse of discretion. Whether the awards are unjust

or inequitable must necessarily depend upon the facts and circumstances in each particular case." (Citation omitted)

It has, further, been stated consistently that there is no general rule which may be followed by the trial court, but that the conclusion with respect to support payments must be based upon "\* \* \* the peculiar circumstances of each case." Bullen vs. Bullen, 71 U.63 262 P.292, 293 (Utah 1927). See also Wooley vs. Wooley 113 Utah 391, 195 P.2d 743, 745, (1948) wherein the court noted that generally accepted guidelines are only guidelines and that the evidence in each case must be applied. There, the application of the guidelines resulted in an unjust order with respect to the assets.

This court has set forth and referred to certain evidentiary elements which should be given consideration in determining alimony, support payments and property settlements. See Pinion vs. Pinion, 92 Utah 255 67 P.2d 265, 267, (1937); Allen vs. Allen, 109 U. 99, 165 P.2d 872, 875 (1946).

In Owen vs. Owen, 579 P.2d 911, 913, (Utah 1978), the court addressed the issues applicable to an increase in child support thusly:

While an increase of the defendant's income is certainly an important factor to consider, this proposition is also true: the fact that a man may so use his abilities as to increase his income should not necessarily impose a penalty upon him by automatically increasing his obligations under a divorce decree. The increase in income is only to be considered along with the other facts and circumstances concerning the needs of the children and the ability of the father and mother to provide for them. There is yet another matter which, though not of controlling importance, the trial court could legitimately give some attention to in judging the equities as between these parties and the welfare

of their children. That is that this defendant appears to have willingly and regularly made the payments required by the decree, which is all too frequently not the case.

In the instant case, each of these factors applies. The court below found that the appellant's income had increased, due to inflation. At the same time, his ex-wife's income had increased dramatically and the court even predicted that her income would improve rapidly over the next five years. (See T-121) Some other relevant facts and circumstances, which should have been given consideration by the court, involve the relative expenses of the parties. While appellant's necessary living expenses, without any money for frills such as clothing, vacation, entertainment or gifts, left him with approximately \$30.00 per month for such extras (T-95-97); his ex-wife's situation was such that she had \$400.00 left over after paying for what she justified as her necessary expenses. (T-55-56) (This fact may be determined by adding the then existing child support (\$150.00) per month to her net monthly income, (\$1,223.00), for \$1,373.00 total, and subtracting therefrom the \$970.00 "necessary" expenses which she incurred each month. Included within those expenses were the expenses necessary for supporting the child. It is, therefore, easy to understand why she did not bring an action to increase child support until she was caught improperly accepting alimony payments.)

Had the court below applied these facts, it could only have fairly and equitably determined that there was not a substantial change in circumstance which warranted an increase in child support payments. Despite inflation, the \$150.00 per month adequately assisted the

respondent in supporting the parties' child. If anything, the support amount may have been set too high at the beginning. Had the respondent not so successfully increased her ability to provide support, a change in circumstance such as that referred to in Wright vs. Wright, supra, at 445, might have been found. (There, inflationary wage increases had kept the father in the same relative financial condition, while hurting that of mother and child.)

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