1982

Diane Walch Reick v. Donald Thomas Reick : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN INCREASING CHILD SUPPORT UPON DETERMINATION OF SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE IN EARNINGS OF APPELLANT AND COSTS OF MAINTENANCE AND SUPPORT OF MINOR CHILD.

At the time the Appellant and Respondent were divorced in 1972, the income of the Appellant was \$800.00 per month (T 214), and the evidence introduced at the time of trial established the earnings of the Appellant at \$2,148.00 per month, for a total gross earnings of \$25,776.00 per year. (T 214)

The Appellant had also remarried on May 27, 1972 (T 172), and his new wife continued her employment making \$8,000.00 per year (T 188). In spite of the substantial increase in income the Appellant seeks to characterize this more than 250% increase in the Appellant's own salary, as "due to inflation". (Appellant's Brief, p. 11) The Appellant entered into a Stipulation and Agreement at the time of the original divorce on May 26, 1972, to pay \$150.00 per month for support of their only child, Danielle, a daughter, and an additional sum of \$50.00 per month as and for alimony (T 84), and has brought an Appeal to this Court on an allegation of abuse of discretion of the Court. (Appellant's Brief, p. 9)

The lower court heard testimony as to the earnings and needs of the parties involved, and as to their allegations of costs of living, and made a determination that despite the plea of the Respondent that the sum of not less than \$250.00 was necessary for the support of the minor child, who is now ten years of age, and where the family is residing in California, that the sum of \$225.00 was, under the circumstances, reasonable child support to award to the Respondent.

This Court, stated in Tsoufakis v. Tsoufakis, 14 Utah 2d 273, 382 P.2d 412 (1963), that it may review the evidence and substitute its judgment for that of the trial court, only where the division and award in the lower court was unjust and inequitable, and was an abuse of discretion based upon the facts and circumstances of the particular case before the Court.

In Kiesel v. Kiesel, 614 P.2d 1374 (Oct., 1980), this court held:

Trial court is justified in modifying a prior decree of divorce where the parties seeking modification proves a substantial and permanent change of circumstances necessitating the modification. Relevant to such a showing are changes in the income of the supporting spouse, and increased needs on the part of the children.

In the instant matter before the Court, we find that the Respondent moved to Fresno, California, in order to improve her earning ability (T 87), and in addition to the higher costs of living in California, had the care of a minor daughter who had a learning disability, and for so long as the Respondent could afford it, was entered into an educationally handicapped school at Palo Alto, California (T 90), but was forced to withdraw her from the special school as being too expensive (T 91), but utilized every effort to advance the learning disability of the daughter by placing her in tutoring and reading centers. (T 92, 97) The Respondent was able to move to Palo Alto (T 102), by obtaining a job with the U.S. Geological Survey. The Court, in its final Judgment, did not award to the Respondent \$250.00 monthly for which the Respondent prayed, nor give the \$232.00, as set forth in the Uniform Child Support Schedule, but awarded the sum of \$225.00, and the Judgment of the Court, while neither a judgment of joy to either the Respondent or the Appellant, was definitely not a denial of the Appellant's constitutional right to due process of law, nor is there any evidence whatsoever before the Court, and in the record before the Court, evidencing that the Court did anything but use its own discretion deriving at the facts of

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF 8

the matter presented to the Court, and weighing the credibility of the witnesses and any of their self-serving computations of living expenses, and no endless recitation of citations of other cases can change the actual record before the Court.

The evidence before the Court is competent and relevant as to the current earnings of both the Appellant and the Respondent, and no amount of rhetoric, huffing or puffing can alter the fact that a stipulated and agreed \$150.00 per month child support for a nine-month old daughter in 1972, at a time when the Appellant was earning \$800.00 per month is still a viable amount of support for a ten-year old daughter, living with her mother in California, and where the Appellant is now making \$2,148.00 per month (T 214) (without consideration of the Appellant's new spouse adding to his family's support and maintenance of his household and earning substantial annual income) (T 188), is not a reasonable basis upon which the Court could find a modification of the child support with an increase of only \$75.00 per month.

If the Court would accept the logic of the Appellant to consider the increase of 250%, as being based purely upon inflationary costs (Appellant's Brief, p. 11), then this Court must find that it is also equitable to multiply the

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF 9

original support of the \$150.00 per month by the same 250%, which would compute child support at more than \$375.00 per month:

POINT II.

RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO AN ADDITUR FOR REDUCTION OF CHILD SUPPORT BY APPELLANT.

The Stipulation and subsequent Decree of Divorce between the Appellant and the Respondent provided for the Appellant to pay \$150.00 per month child support, and \$50.00 per month alimony. (T 84) No provision in the Stipulation, nor the Decree of Divorce provided for the termination of the alimony upon remarriage of the Respondent.

Nothing in the Utah Statutes, at the time of the remarriage of the Respondent, and up to the time of the divorce of the Respondent from her marriage to a Mr. Cooper, provided for automatic termination of alimony upon remarriage. Even the Supreme Court of the State of Utah, in the case of Myers v. Myers, 62 Utah 90, 218 P. 128, had ruled that alimony was not necessarily terminated on remarriage of the wife, and it was not until the case of Austad v. Austad, 2 Utah 2d 49, 269 P.2d 284, (1954) that the Supreme Court of Utah reversed its position, and provided by judicial fiat that alimony would terminate upon remarriage. The Utah Legislature did not, until 1979,

revise the statutes to reflect the decisions of this Court under Title 30-3-5, U.C.A., as amended in 1979, by the additions of (2) and (3) thereto.

The allegation that the Respondent committed willful fraud against the Appellant, by not revealing her remarriage, is not borne out by the testimony, in that the Respondent had no knowledge or reason to believe that marriage had any effect whatsoever as to alimony, by reason of the failure of the Stipulation and the Decree of Divorce to make any reference whatsoever to a basis for termination of alimony. While Utah Case Law provided for termination of alimony on remarriage, except for certain other circumstances, it cannot be presumed that the Respondent had actual knowledge of court decisions of the Supreme Court of Utah, particularly by the fact that she had moved to and was residing in the State of California.

The basis for the Respondent not advising the Appellant of the remarriage is best reflected in the record, wherein the Respondent testified in reference to the \$150.00 per month child support and the \$50.00 alimony, as follows:

Q. Now in reference to the \$200.00 figure, could you briefly state to the court why you did not advise your husband, former husband, of the remarriage, and why you continued to accept the \$200.00?

A. Yes. From the time when we got divorced, Don would pay me sporadically. He frequently paid me with checks that bounced. He a -- this was most frequent at the beginning. Right after our divorce for about four months, he didn't pay me anything at all. At that time I made very little money, and I was totally dependent on the money from him. We informally worked out where he would say to me, like he wasn't working, and so if I would take what he gave me, or I could take nothing, he would take me to court and have this lowered to nothing, and so I always worked under this threat. As the years went on, he became less irregular, and the last check that bounced I believe was in 1978. We never followed the Divorce Decree.

Q. What do you mean you never followed that?

A. Well, he was suppose to pay me before the 1st and before the 15th. He would never do that. He paid me sometimes more, sometimes less. I just took anything he would give me, and we never talked about the Divorce Decree. He paid me anything he felt like paying me, and I was very happy to get it. (T 85)

There can be no scienter upon which to establish fraud, when the sole basis upon which the Respondent did not reveal the remarriage to the Appellant was not upon the basis of termination of alimony, but upon the basis of the threat of the Appellant to terminate child support upon remarriage of the Respondent.

The Appellant, upon learning of the remarriage of the Respondent, commenced in July, 1980, to terminate payment of alimony, and also deduct without any order or petition through any court, the sum of \$50.00 per month from the meager child support, paying only \$100.00 per month to the Respondent. (T 85) The Appellant was also made aware of the fact that the minor daughter in the custody of the Respondent had a learning disability, and that the Respondent was substantially burdened in expenditures in an attempt to assist the child in overcoming her learning disability. (T 97) The Appellant also further refused to assist in paying any of the costs for orthodontic care necessitated for the ten-year old daughter (T 97), and as has been previously stated even dropped the health insurance required by the court to be maintained by the Appellant in accordance with the terms of the Decree of Divorce, requiring the Respondent to pay medical costs incurred during the period of non-insurability, and further requiring the Respondent to purchase health insurance for the minor daughter. (T 131, 152)

It is submitted that only upon proper application to the court, can the Appellant reduce the amount of child support previously set forth by the Judgment of the court in regards to the payment of same. (Austad v. Austad, supra)

It is further submitted to the Court that having found that the Appellant's salary having increased from \$800.00 to \$2,148.00 per month, and the necessity and needs of a ten-year old child as against the amount awarded when the child was nine months of age, and in consideration of the increased costs of living, learning disabilities, health problems, necessity for orthodontic care, and the costs of living in Palo Alto, California, all would negate the court granting an increase of \$75.00 per month, and then allowing the deduction of \$50.00 per month from the child support to be paid back to the Appellant for alimony which was paid following the marriage of the Respondent, is totally inequitable without also granting to the Respondent the amount of monies which the Respondent was compelled to expend upon the minor child because of the failure of the Appellant to carry medical insurance for the minor daughter, as well as costs expended in overcoming learning disability of the child, and other costs and expenses resulting from the necessities for the minor daughter.

The previous withholding by the Appellant of \$50.00 per month for the child, and a subsequent order of the court finding that \$225.00 per month is reasonable and fair support for the child, the deduction by the Appellant in the first instance of \$50.00 per month from the \$150.00 per

month child support without any legal process whatsoever, and the allowance by the lower court of a continued deduction from reasonable child support of \$50.00 per month until the amount paid by the Appellant to the Respondent as and for alimony during the period of time in which the Respondent had become married, is improper, in that the Respondent is entitled to be paid the reasonable fair support of the child, as determined in the first instance by a stipulation and in the second instance by the finding of the lower court of a necessity for increase.

CONCLUSION